Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Review

Science of the Total Environment



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Microplastics in the Antarctic marine system: An emerging area of research



Catherine L. Waller^{a,*}, Huw J. Griffiths^b, Claire M. Waluda^b, Sally E. Thorpe^b, Iván Loaiza^c, Bernabé Moreno^c, Cesar O. Pacherres^c, Kevin A. Hughes^b

^a School of Environmental Sciences, University of Hull, UK

^b British Antarctic Survey, Natural Environment Research Council, Cambridge, UK

^c Carrera de Biología Marina, Científica del Sur University, Peru

HIGHLIGHTS

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- The Antarctic marine system is considered pristine compared to other regions.
- Microplastics are present in Antarctic waters but available data are scarce.
- Local sources of primary microplastic do not explain reported concentrations.
- Plastic originating from outside the region may contribute to Antarctic pollution.
- Standardised monitoring of microplastic in Antarctic waters is needed urgently.



ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 10 February 2017 Received in revised form 30 March 2017 Accepted 31 March 2017 Available online 22 April 2017

Editor: Jay Gan

Keywords: Southern Ocean Wastewater Macroplastic Polar Front Human impact Tourism

ABSTRACT

It was thought that the Southern Ocean was relatively free of microplastic contamination; however, recent studies and citizen science projects in the Southern Ocean have reported microplastics in deep-sea sediments and surface waters. Here we reviewed available information on microplastics (including macroplastics as a source of microplastics) in the Southern Ocean. We estimated primary microplastic concentrations from personal care products and laundry, and identified potential sources and routes of transmission into the region. Estimates showed the levels of microplastic pollution released into the region from ships and scientific research stations were likely to be negligible at the scale of the Southern Ocean, but may be significant on a local scale. This was demonstrated by the detection of the first microplastics in shallow benthic sediments close to a number of research stations on King George Island. Furthermore, our predictions of primary microplastic concentrations from local sources were five orders of magnitude lower than levels reported in published sampling surveys (assuming an even dispersal at the ocean surface). Sea surface transfer from lower latitudes may contribute, at an as yet unknown level, to Southern Ocean plastic concentrations. Acknowledging the lack of data describing microplastic origins, concentrations, distribution and impacts in the Southern Ocean, we highlight the urgent need for research, and call for routine, standardised monitoring in the Antarctic marine system.

© 2017 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND licenses (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: c.l.waller@hull.ac.uk (C.L. Waller).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.03.283

0048-9697/© 2017 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	221
	1.1. Microplastics in the global context.	221
	1.2. Antarctic legislative framework	221
2.	Reports of microplastics in the Southern Ocean	223
	2.1. Quantification of shallow-marine microplastic contamination from within Mackellar Inlet, King George Island, South Shetland	
	Islands, Antarctica	223
3.	Southern Ocean marine ecosystem and potential impact of microplastic	223
4.	Sources of microplastic within the Southern Ocean.	224
	4.1. Microplastics in wastewater.	224
	4.2. Estimation of microplastic release into the Southern Ocean from personal care products and laundering synthetic fabrics	224
	4.3. Microplastics from the degradation of macroplastic pollution originating in the Southern Ocean	224
	4.4. Plastics originating outside the Southern Ocean	225
5.	Conclusions	225
Ackı	nowledgments	226
Refe	erences	226

1. Introduction

The Southern Ocean region south of the Polar Front has a surface area of approximately 22 million km² and a volume of over 71.8 million km³, representing 5.4% of the world's oceans. The area is under increasing threat from fishing, pollution, and the introduction of non-native species, while climate change is leading to rising sea temperatures and ocean acidification (Aronson et al., 2011). Of increasing concern is pollution in the form of floating macroplastic (Barnes et al., 2009, 2010), which has impacts through, for example, entanglement and ingestion by marine predators (Van Franeker and Bell, 1988; Huin and Croxall, 1996; Waluda and Staniland, 2013; Ryan et al., 2016) and deposition of beached debris (Walker et al., 1997; Convey et al., 2002; do Sul et al., 2011; Eriksson et al., 2009). In contrast, microplastic pollution in the Southern Ocean (i.e. plastic particles <5 mm, Arthur et al., 2009) has received little scientific or regulatory attention, despite the issue being increasingly recognised globally (Andrady, 2011; Cole et al., 2011; do Sul and Costa, 2014; Lusher et al., 2015a; Sutherland et al., 2011; Thompson, 2015). In this paper we review the current state of knowledge concerning microplastics in the Southern Ocean. We collate data from existing and new studies, estimate the input of primary microplastics from personal care products and fibres released from synthetic textiles in the region and describe potential sources and transmission routes of plastics into the region with a view to promoting more research to inform policymakers with jurisdiction over the Antarctic and Southern Ocean.

1.1. Microplastics in the global context

Substantial quantities of microplastics are already present in the global marine ecosystem (Liebezeit and Dubaish, 2012; Collignon et al., 2012; Desforges et al., 2014), from the tropics to the poles, including in Arctic sea ice (Obbard et al., 2014; Lusher, 2015, Bergmann et al., 2017; Tekman et al., 2017). Microplastic particles enter the oceans via wastewater and breakdown of macroplastic and have been shown in numerous studies to be persistent in oceanic systems, including surface and deep ocean waters, and in deep sea sediments (Andrady, 2011; Cole et al., 2011; do Sul and Costa, 2014). Microplastics have been shown to accumulate in oceanic gyres (Leichter, 2011; Eriksen et al., 2013; Gross, 2013; Cózar et al., 2014; Ryan, 2014), and find their way into the global deep ocean (Woodall et al., 2014; Fischer et al., 2015) and deep sea sediments and fauna (Van Cauwenberghe et al., 2015; Taylor et al., 2016). However, the extent, quantity and impacts of microplastics in the marine environment around Antarctica remain largely unknown.

Marine microplastic pollution has primary and secondary sources. Primary microplastics are derived from a number of sources including personal care products, such as toothpastes, shampoos and shower gels, and fibres from laundry. Washing synthetic clothing and fabrics may release microplastic fibres in wastewater. It has been shown that a single polyester fleece jacket can release >1900 fibres per wash (Browne et al., 2011). However, approximately 90% of microplastics may be retained in wastewater treatment plants (see e.g. Ziajahromi et al., 2016). The non-retained microplastics can be released in a largely unaltered state, into the nearshore marine environment having passed through sewage treatment facilities (Fendall and Sewell, 2009; Gröndahl et al., 2009). Physical oceanographic processes may then act to retain or further disperse the particles. Plastic microfibre contamination is widespread, with fibres found on the shorelines of six continents, with more fibres found near densely populated areas (Browne et al., 2011).

Secondary microplastics, both particles and fibres, result from the breakdown of macroscopic plastic ocean debris, which is common throughout the world's oceans (see Li et al. (2016) for review). Around half of discarded plastics are buoyant in seawater, and as such may be subject to degradation by ultraviolet (UV) radiation and decomposition (Hammer et al., 2012). Several comprehensive studies of oceans near populated regions have evaluated the contribution of different sources of primary and secondary microplastics to the overall microplastic levels in the marine environment (e.g. Sundt et al., 2014, Essel et al., 2015, Lassen et al., 2015, Magnusson et al., 2016). It was generally concluded that the majority of microplastics in the marine environment are from secondary sources. Secondary microplastics are known to persist both in surface and deep ocean waters and in deep sea sediments across the world oceans (do Sul and Costa, 2014). A recent global estimate put the input of plastic into the oceans at approximately 6.4 million tons per annum (UNEP, 2005). Around 5 million solid waste items are thrown or lost overboard from vessels (UNEP, 2005, 2009) and ships discards and losses are considered to be the major source of marine debris found on remote beaches (Hammer et al., 2012). An even greater source of marine plastic debris, according to many estimates, is from land based sources such as coastal populations, industry and agriculture (Mehlhart and Blepp, 2012).

1.2. Antarctic legislative framework

International legislation controlling the use and release of microplastics has not kept pace with the emerging environmental consequences of their production. The international community, including the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), and regional and national legislative bodies are attempting to address the problem by prohibiting the use of microplastics in personal care products worldwide (UNEP, 2015). Currently there is no global regulation of the

discharge of wastewater (including bathing and laundry grey water), nor is it being actively considered by the International Maritime Organisation. The International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (1973) as modified by the Protocol of 1978 (MARPOL 73/ 78) aims to prevent pollution of the marine environment. The issue of marine debris is covered in Annex V, which prohibits the deliberate release of plastics (such as plastic ropes, fishing nets and plastic bags) and other waste from ships, but the level of adherence to these regulations may not always be consistent, particularly amongst those participating in illegal, unreported, unregulated (IUU) fishing (Chen, 2015). No international marine legislation mentions microplastic pollution specifically.

Governance of the area south of latitude 60°S is through the Antarctic Treaty System. The Antarctic Treaty (which entered into force in 1961) put territorial claims into abeyance and prohibited testing of nuclear weapons, but said little on environmental management. In 1998 the Protocol on Environmental Protection to the Antarctic Treaty entered into force, containing specific annexes on Waste Disposal and Waste Management (Annex III) and Prevention of Marine Pollution (Annex IV). Release of wastewater from vessels within 12 nautical miles of the coast is prohibited, but Parties are not compelled to treat wastewater released from their scientific research stations. Under Annex I Environmental Impact Assessment Parties are obliged to undertake environmental impact assessments (EIAs) for all activities within the Antarctic Treaty area, with a view to implementing measures to mitigate any impact. However, the Committee for Environmental Protection (http://www.ats.aq/e/cep.htm), which is the body established by the Protocol to provide Antarctic Treaty Parties with advice on environmental issues, has yet to consider the issue of microplastics, due largely



Fig. 1. (A) Main coastal Antarctic facilities operated by National Antarctic Programmes and recorded findings of microplastics and macroplastics in surface waters, on beaches and in sediments south of the Polar Front. Plot boundary: mean position of the Polar Front. Red dots: research stations and facilities. Yellow crosses: records of macroplastics. Green crosses: records of microplastics (see Supplementary Table S1). Purple arrows: direction of major ocean currents. (B) The average number of ships (including fishing, tourism and scientific vessels) within a 1° × 1° spatial grid cell, November 2009–January 2010 (data courtesy of the European Union https://webgate.ec.europa.eu/maritimeforum/). (C) Trajectories of near-surface drifters (1989–2015). All drifters found south of 48°S are shown; those drifters that were deployed north of the mean position of the Polar Front transported southwards across the Polar Front are highlighted in shades of red/orange. The deployment locations of these latter drifters are denoted by black circles.

to a lack of scientific evidence to inform its work and policy development. The Convention for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources (CAMLR Convention - https://www.ccamlr.org/) manages marine living resources within the area south of the Polar Front including the Antarctic Treaty area. The CAMLR Commission (CCAMLR) currently monitor for the presence of anthropogenic debris at a small number of sites around the Antarctic continent, but as yet, this does not include monitoring for microplastics. However, the issue of microplastic pollution was presented for the first time to a meeting of the CCAMLR Working Group on Ecosystem Monitoring and Management in 2016, indicating that it is a topic of interest and potential concern.

2. Reports of microplastics in the Southern Ocean

As an emerging area of concern, there are to date few reports of the presence of microplastics in the Southern Ocean and the methods for sampling and reporting are not yet consistent or comparable. Microplastic particles have been found in intertidal sediments from the sub-Antarctic island of South Georgia (Barnes et al., 2009), in deep sea sediments in the Weddell Sea (Van Cauwenberghe et al., 2013) and in the surface waters of the Pacific sector of the Southern Ocean (Isobe et al., 2016). Although not in the peer-reviewed literature, a number of citizen science environmental projects recently found microplastics in surface waters of the Southern Ocean (see Fig. 1A and Table S1) at levels that are consistent with those recorded in more populated areas of the world oceans (AdventureScience.org, 2016). The organisation Adventure Science reported mean values of 22 particles L⁻¹ (<5 mm) in seawater samples taken from the western Antarctic Peninsula, with a maximum concentration of 117 particles L^{-1} (AdventureScience.org, 2016). These values are comparable with those collected and analysed by the same project in highly populated regions of the world e.g. east $(1-161 \text{ particles } L^{-1})$ and west (1-31 parti-)cles L^{-1}) coasts of the USA, New Zealand (2–7 particles L^{-1}) and South Africa (10 particles L^{-1}). The Tara Expeditions Foundation found microplastics in each of four of their samples collected using towed neuston nets in the Southern Ocean, with a concentration of 0.55-56.58 g km⁻² for particles between 0.335 and 4.75 mm in size (Eriksen et al., 2014; see Fig. 1A and Table S1). Cózar et al. (2014) found concentrations of 0.100–0.514 g km⁻² at all sample stations south of the Polar Front and Isobe et al. (2016) found values ranging from 46,000–99,000 particles km^{-2} (in the surface 1 m) for particles between 0.16 and 5 mm in size at sample locations south of latitude 60°S.

2.1Quantification of shallow-marine microplastic contamination from within Mackellar Inlet, King George Island, South Shetland Islands, Antarctica

We report shallow-marine microplastic contamination from within Mackellar Inlet, South Shetland Islands (Fig. 1A), close to where the Peruvian Machu Picchu research station is located. Brazilian (Comandante Ferraz) and Polish (Henryk Arctowski) research stations are also found in the wider Admiralty Bay. Sediment and macroalgal material was collected by the Peruvian authors of this study in 2013 and 2015 using Van Veen grab and SCUBA sampling methods at depths ranging from 6 to 60 m at 11 stations across this shallow inlet (see S2 for details of sampling procedure and laboratory analysis).

Samples contained between 16 and 766 synthetic particles m^{-2} , with no clear pattern of abundance or distribution. Plastic particles in the samples ranged from 1 to 23 mm in length (Fig. 2), with microplastics being classified as those smaller than 5 mm, with the most common size being 1–2 mm. The samples contained both secondary microplastic fragments and fibres in a range of colours, implying that particles may have originated from multiple sources including the degradation of larger plastic objects, possibly in the local vicinity.



Fig. 2. Frequency of synthetic particles and microplastics from shallow-marine samples taken within Mackellar Inlet, South Shetland Islands sorted by size.

3. Southern Ocean marine ecosystem and potential impact of microplastic

Here we consider the impact of microplastics on four different habitats within the Southern Ocean: pelagic, benthic, sub-littoral and intertidal regions. Pelagic food webs in the Southern Ocean are mobile, patchy and have a rapid turnover (De Broyer et al., 2014). They are characterised by keystone species of diatoms (algal primary producers) and Antarctic krill (Euphausia superba) (De Broyer et al., 2014). Within the zooplankton community, suspension filter feeders are predicted, from laboratory experiments using high concentrations of microplastics, to ingest a large proportion as their feeding mode concentrates food from large volumes of water (Kaposi et al., 2014). Antarctic krill, the ecologically important filter feeder, has an uneven population distribution, both spatially and temporally, with ~25% of the biomass concentrated in 10% of its total habitat area, namely the Scotia Sea and Drake Passage (Atkinson et al., 2008). As one of the high traffic areas for shipping in the region (by both the tourism and fishing industries) (Fig. 1B), the Scotia Sea may be a key area for the potential ingestion of microplastics by krill. Evidence from the northern hemisphere shows that microplastics may impact pelagic ecosystems by causing toxicological effects in key species, such as copepods (Lee et al., 2013; Cole et al., 2015) and euphausiids (Desforges et al., 2015), at the base of the food chain as well as potential bioaccumulation and biomagnification through the food chain (Cole et al., 2013; Besseling et al., 2012; Teuten et al., 2009; Ward and Kach, 2009). In turn, these processes could have negative consequences for higher predators such as fish (Lusher et al., 2013; Romeo et al., 2015), seabirds (Furness, 1983; Ryan et al., 2016) seals (Bravo Rebolledo et al., 2013) and whales (Besseling et al., 2015; Lusher et al., 2015b) in addition to the known impacts of macroplastic ingestion and entanglement on marine biota (Derraik, 2002, Gregory, 2009).

Antarctic benthic communities consist predominantly of suspension and deposit feeders with dominant taxa in both shallow and deep water relying on detritus in the water column and sediments to obtain energy and nutrients (Griffiths, 2010). As with the pelagic suspension filter feeding organisms, it is likely that these species will be affected by deposition/settling of microplastic due to the risk of ingestion associated with their feeding strategies (Taylor et al., 2016; Wright et al., 2013b).

Shallow sub littoral habitats are highly heterogeneous, patchy and heavily impacted by ice (icebergs, sea ice and fast ice) (Brown et al., 2004; Smale et al., 2008). The impacts of ice scour, together with advection, result in the resuspension of sediments (Barnes and Souster, 2011; Gutt, 2001), and potentially any microplastics within them, which may increase the likelihood of them being ingested by benthic taxa in coastal areas. Intertidal habitats in Antarctica do exist but are relatively unexplored. Those which have been investigated are surprisingly rich in biodiversity and generally comprise a subset of the local marine community (Waller et al., 2006). Evidence from intertidal habitats elsewhere has shown that animals do ingest microplastics and can suffer detrimental consequences, such as decreased energy reserves and reduced survival rates, for instance in marine worms and amphipods (Wright et al., 2013a; Tosetto et al., 2016).

Although no published data exist concerning microplastic impacts upon Antarctic biota, effects have been observed in similar taxa in other ocean regions, such as the impairment of feeding and a decrease in reproductive output (as described above). At the moment it is not clear whether Antarctic species would respond in the same way, leaving considerable scope for further research.

4. Sources of microplastic within the Southern Ocean

4.1. Microplastics in wastewater

In Antarctic waters, microplastics may be discharged in wastewater from scientific research stations (Fig. 1A) and research, fishing and tourist vessels (Fig. 1B). Gröndahl et al. (2009) reported that of the 71 research stations located in Antarctica, 52% had no wastewater treatment systems. This corresponded to 37% of the permanent stations (occupied year-round) and 69% of stations occupied only during the austral summer. Conventional wastewater treatment, including tertiary treatment techniques such as microfiltration, may fail to fully remove microplastics (Fendall and Sewell, 2009; Ziajahromi et al., 2016) and this situation may be exacerbated in remote polar regions where operational difficulties may reduce treatment efficiency (Tin et al., 2009; Aronson et al., 2011).

4.2. Estimation of microplastic release into the Southern Ocean from personal care products and laundering synthetic fabrics

Information on the volume of wastewater released into the Southern Ocean and empirical data on microplastics in the wastewater are not available. In order to assess the potential input of primary microplastics from personal care products and laundering synthetic fabrics we quantified the human presence in the region, onboard ships and at scientific research stations as ~ 18.2×10^6 person days per decade (Table 1) using data from:

- The International Association of Antarctica Tour Operators (IAATO) (2004–2014): total number of cruises, their duration and the numbers of passengers and crew on each cruise.
- The Commission for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources (CCAMLR) (2004–2014): total number of fishing vessels (licensed), duration of fishing in Southern Ocean and the number of crew.
- The Council of Managers of National Antarctic Programs (COMNAP): summary of coastal scientific research stations and personnel for

summer and winter occupancy between 2004/5 and 2014/15, www. comnap.aq (Fig. 1A).

We used published rates of primary microplastic use and production per person for elsewhere in the world to generate values for total local microplastic input (from personal care products and laundry) into the Southern Ocean. Estimates of daily microplastic use per person in personal care products ranged between 2.4 and 27.5 mg day⁻¹ (Gouin et al., 2011, 2015). We estimated a maximum potential input (i.e. based on 18.2 million person days per decade) of between c. 44–500 kg of microplastic particles entering the Southern Ocean per decade from personal care products (See Table 2).

Estimates of synthetic fibres given off by laundry were based upon studies where individual items were found to release between 680 and 1900 fibres per wash (polyester blankets and shirts, and fleece clothing respectively; Browne et al., 2011). Napper and Thompson (2016) estimated that a 6 kg wash of acrylic fabric could release over 728,000 fibres. Assuming that each person on ships or research stations washed clothes or bedding once per week, lower and upper estimates were calculated for between three and 11 synthetic fabric items per person per week (based on typical standard issue Antarctic clothing and the values presented by Browne et al., 2011), with the upper value including at least one fleece item. We calculated estimates ranging between 0.5 and 2.3 billion (using Browne et al., 2011) and 25.5 billion (using Napper and Thompson, 2016) plastic fibres released into the Southern Ocean over a decade, assuming that 90% of fibres are removed during water treatment (Ziajahromi et al., 2016). Few reports exist on the presence of microfibres in the water column or sediments of the Southern Ocean, although detection is likely to be possible near the source of wastewater discharge but, due to dilution effects, detection in the open ocean may be more difficult.

Our preliminary calculations indicate that microfibres from laundry released in wastewater may be a more substantial source of microplastic pollution compared with personal care products. Our results suggest that the local input from personal care products and laundry is relatively low, but likely to be concentrated around highly visited and/or populated areas such as the Northern Antarctic Peninsula (Fig. 1A, B).

4.3. Microplastics from the degradation of macroplastic pollution originating in the Southern Ocean

Macroplastic pollution in the Southern Ocean has been recorded by both at-sea observations and shore-based surveys (Fig. 1A). In Antarctic waters, high UV levels in the austral summer may mean that photo-oxidation is a more effective mechanism for degrading floating debris than in regions elsewhere. However, the cold temperatures may reduce the contribution of thermal oxidation in the breakdown of submerged plastics (Hammer et al., 2012). Convey et al. (2002) found that 8–10% of the

Table 1

The estimated number of person days spent on the Southern Ocean or in coastal regions of Antarctica through tourism and legal fishing during the period 2004 to 2014. Tourist data were obtained from the International Association of Antarctica Tour Operators (IAATO) and fishing data from the Commission for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources (CCAMLR), research station data based upon mean occupancy (summer and winter) provided by the Council of Managers of National Antarctic Programs (COMNAP).

Antarctic summer season	Fishing vessels (longline)	Fishing vessels (krill)	Tourist visitors	Research stations	Total
2004/05	39,410	38,502	626,248	(166,164 winter & 649,558 summer) 815,722	1,519,882
2005/06	36,575	65,565	778,017	(166,164 winter & 649,558 summer) 815,722	1,695,879
2006/07	42,840	48,267	815,491	(166,164 winter & 649,558 summer) 815,722	1,722,320
2007/08	36,260	41,757	951,891	(166,164 winter & 649,558 summer) 815,722	1,845,630
2008/09	32,095	73,935	966,366	(166,164 winter & 649,558 summer) 815,722	1,888,118
2009/10	33,530	102,858	771,883	(166,164 winter & 649,558 summer) 815,722	1,723,993
2010/11	31,290	83,235	815,319	(166,164 winter & 649,558 summer) 815,722	1,745,566
2011/12	31,570	72,912	797,209	(166,164 winter & 649,558 summer) 815,722	1,717,413
2012/13	35,455	99,882	735,747	(166,164 winter & 649,558 summer) 815,722	1,686,806
2013/14	27,790	106,578	1,666,107	(166,164 winter & 649,558 summer) 815,722	2,616,197
Total 2004–2014	346,815	733,491	8,924,278	8,157,220	18,161,804

Table 2

Estimates of the total mass of microplastics entering the Southern Ocean (south of the Antarctic Polar Front) due to the release of personal care products by those participating in tourism, legal fishing and scientific research between 2004 and 2014, based upon a total of ~18.2 million person days (~10 million days from fishing and tourism and ~8.2 million days from scientific research stations – see Table 1). Estimates of daily microplastic release per person are based upon values presented in the references (Gouin et al., 2011, 2015).

		Estimated release of microplastics into the Southern Ocean		
		mg/person/day	kg/year	kg/decade
timates of daily microplastic release per person	Gouin et al. (2011)	2.4	4.37	43.7
	Gouin et al. (2015) (minimum output per person estimate)	7.5	13.66	136.6
	Gouin et al. (2015) (maximum output per person estimate)	27.5	50.08	500.8

stranded debris on the South Sandwich Islands and 33–50% at South Georgia and the South Orkney Islands was related to the fishing industry. In highly populated parts of the world, terrestrially derived sources of macroplastics may dominate the input into the marine environment, but due to the small scale of human activity in Antarctica this is unlikely to be the case for material originating on the continent, except potentially on a very local scale around some stations with inadequate waste management practices. Within the Antarctic marine system macroplastic distribution is widespread (Fig. 1A) but records are largely limited to beach studies or opportunistic observations and sampling at sea (Table S1) making quantification of total macroplastics in the Southern Ocean unreliable using available datasets (Convey et al., 2002; Barnes, 2005; Barnes et al., 2010).

4.4. Plastics originating outside the Southern Ocean

Recent observations from the Arctic showed that remote Polar Regions were not beyond the reach of microplastic pollution (Lusher et al., 2015a). Bergmann et al. (2017) found high concentrations of microplastics in Arctic sea ice, including fibres potentially originating from the atmosphere. Tekman et al. (2017) linked increased plastic debris at an Arctic deep sea observatory (2500 m depth) to increased numbers of fishing boats in the region. The Arctic is an ocean surrounded by populated landmasses with industrial centres and with ocean currents that enter from both the Pacific and Atlantic in contrast to the more isolated Antarctic. The Antarctic is an almost unpopulated continent, separated geographically from the nearest continents.

The major current systems of the Southern Ocean comprise the eastward-flowing Antarctic Circumpolar Current, the westward-flowing Antarctic Coastal Current, and the clockwise-circulating Weddell and Ross Sea gyres (Fig. 1A). Until recently, it was thought that, in particular, the Polar Front (a deep-reaching ocean front with an associated current jet within the Antarctic Circumpolar Current) provided a substantial barrier to the transfer of biotic and abiotic material from lower latitudes (Fraser et al., 2011, 2016). However, dispersal processes (for example, due to high frequency variability associated with the Polar Front through meandering and the generation of eddies) provide potential mechanisms for the transfer of material southward across the Polar Front, as demonstrated by near-surface satellite-tracked ocean drifters (Fig. 1C). Recent studies investigating floating kelp distribution also confirmed the transfer of biotic material across the Polar Front, most likely via eddies (Fraser et al., 2011, 2016). Areas such as the western Antarctic Peninsula, where the Polar Front is relatively close to the continent, permit a shorter transfer route to near-shore environments for waters from lower latitude oceans. At intermediate depths, deep waters from lower latitudes upwell to shallower depths across the Antarctic Circumpolar Current as Circumpolar Deep Water. Although the timescales of this process are longer than surface transport routes (approximately decadal), it is another potential mechanism for transport into the region from latitudes north of the Southern Ocean.

Material south of the Polar Front can be transferred towards the Antarctic continent by the southward-flowing limbs of regional gyres, e.g. in the Weddell and Ross Seas, where interaction with the Antarctic Coastal Current may lead to further dispersal. Locally, smaller-scale processes such as cross-shelf transfer and retention, tidal interactions and permanent eddies will act to retain or disperse material (Thompson et al., 2009; Young et al., 2014). These processes will be modified by seasonal variability associated with, for example, flux of freshwater and heat, and the presence and drift of sea ice (Thorpe et al., 2007).

As yet, there is no quantitative evidence to determine whether or not plastics are crossing the Antarctic Circumpolar Current or if the detected particles are locally sourced. While we have identified that transport pathways do exist, modelling studies will allow a better resolution of the importance and timescales of these routes, and the level of dispersal from local sources.

5. Conclusions

The threats to marine ecosystems presented by microplastics have been identified as a major global conservation issue and a key priority for research (Sutherland et al., 2011), but major questions concerning plastic in the Southern Ocean remain unanswered. For example, while the presence and impact of macroplastics and other marine debris has been monitored at a limited range of locations in the Southern Ocean, our understanding of the sources and fate of plastics in these waters is limited at best. Given the low numbers of people present in Antarctica and the Southern Ocean, direct input of microplastic from wastewater is likely to be below detectable limits at a Southern Ocean scale. However, microplastics generated from macroplastic degradation or transferred into the Southern Ocean across the Polar Front has yet to be adequately quantified, but may be a major contributor, as found elsewhere in the world, to the high level of microplastics recorded at some open ocean sites.

In addition to tighter regional regulation on the use and release of plastics in the Southern Ocean we believe that a greater understanding of their distribution and impact is required. At present the international scientific community does not regularly sample for microplastics or record at-sea observations of macroplastics in the Southern Ocean region and there are few peer-reviewed scientific publications exist that quantify plastics in Antarctic waters. Our results show where in the Southern Ocean macro and microplastic have been reported to date. As units and methods of existing studies are not comparable a quantitative study of macro and microplastic concentrations around the Southern Oceans is therefore impossible at this time.

To understand fully the sources and scale of this pollution would require an internationally coordinated effort with standardised or comparable sampling and extraction techniques for microplastics and observation and recording methodologies for macroplastics to map and evaluate circumpolar plastics distribution. Given that the required sampling methods are relatively simple (Lusher, 2015; Desforges et al., 2014), we recommend that this could be done by using ships already deployed to the Southern Ocean for scientific and logistical purposes. Such a campaign would be best organised through the existing international collaborative efforts of the Scientific Committee on Antarctic Research, COMNAP and CCAMLR with support from the Antarctic Treaty Parties. Supplementary data to this article can be found online at http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/i.scitotenv.2017.03.283.

Acknowledgments

We wish to thank Julian Gutt and three anonymous reviewers for their insightful comments and suggestions. This paper contributes to the British Antarctic Survey (BAS) Polar Science for Planet Earth 'Ecosystems' and 'Biodiversity, Evolution and Adaptation' programmes, the BAS Environment Office Long Term Monitoring and Survey project (EO-LTMS) and the 'State of the Antarctic Ecosystem' research programme (AntEco) of the Scientific Committee on Antarctic Research (SCAR). The Peruvian Ministry of Foreign Affairs is acknowledged for support of the sediment and macroalgal sampling during the Peruvian Antarctic summer Expedition of 2013 and 2015. Mark Belchier (CCAMLR), Marcus Eriksen (The 5 Gyres Institute) Andres Cózar, Atsuhiko Isobe, the Global Drifter Program Data Assembly Center (www.aoml.noaa.gov/phod/dac/ index.php) and the International Association of Antarctica Tour Operators (IAATO) are thanked for providing data.

References

- AdventureScience.org, 2016. Global Microplastics Initiative. http://www.adventurescience. org/microplastics.html Retrieved: Sep 1, 2016.
- Andrady, A.L., 2011. Microplastics in the marine environment. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 62 (8), 1596–1605.
- Aronson, R.B., Thatje, S., McClintock, J.B., Hughes, K.A., 2011. Anthropogenic impacts on marine ecosystems in Antarctica. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1223, 82–107.
- Arthur, C., Baker, J., Bamford, H., 2009. Proceedings of the International Research Workshop on the Occurrence, Effects and Fate of Microplastic Marine Debris 9–11 September 2008, NOAA Technical, Memorandum NOS-OR&R30.
- Atkinson, A., Siegel, V., Pakhomov, E.A., Rothery, P., Loeb, V., Ross, R.M., Quetin, L.B., Schmidt, K., Fretwell, P., Murphy, E.J., Tarling, G.A., 2008. Oceanic circumpolar habitats of Antarctic krill. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 362, 1–23.
- Barnes, D.K.A., 2005. Remote islands reveal rapid rise of Southern Hemisphere, sea debris. Sci. World J. 5, 915–921.
- Barnes, D.K.A., Souster, T., 2011. Reduced survival of Antarctic benthos linked to climateinduced iceberg scouring. Nat. Clim. Chang. 1 (7), 365–368.
- Barnes, D.K.A., Galgani, F., Thompson, R.C., Barlaz, M., 2009. Accumulation and fragmentation of plastic debris in global environments. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 364 (1526), 1985–1998.
- Barnes, D.K.A., Walters, A., Gonçalves, L., 2010. Macroplastics at sea around Antarctica. Mar. Environ. Res. 70 (2), 250–252.
- Bergmann, M., Peeken, I., Beyer, B., Krumpen, T., Primpke, S., Tekman, M.B., Gerdts, G., 2017. Vast quantities of microplastics in Arctic sea ice—a prime temporary sink for plastic litter and a medium of transport. MICRO 2016. Elsevier, pp. 75–76.
- Besseling, E., Wegner, A., Foekema, E.M., Van Den Heuvel-Greve, M.J., Koelmans, A.A., 2012. Effects of microplastic on fitness and PCB bioaccumulation by the lugworm *Arenicola marina* (L.). Environ. Sci. Technol. 47 (1), 593–600.
- Besseling, E., Foekama, E.M., Van Franeker, J.A., Leopold, M.F., Kuhn, S., Bravo Rebolledo, E.L., Hesse, E., Mielke, L., Ijzer, J., Kamminga, P., Koerlmans, A.A., 2015. Microplastic in a macro filter feeder: humpback whale *Megaptera novaeangliae*. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 95, 248–252.
- Bravo Rebolledo, E.L., Van Franeker, J.A., Jansen, O.E., Brasseur, S.M.J.M., 2013. Plastic ingestion by harbour seals (*Phoca vitulina*) in The Netherlands. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 67, 200–202.
- Brown, K.M., Fraser, K.P., Barnes, D.K., Peck, L.S., 2004. Links between the structure of an Antarctic shallow-water community and ice-scour frequency. Oecologia 141 (1), 121–129.
- Browne, M.A., Crump, P., Niven, S.J., Teuten, E., Tonkin, A., Galloway, T., Thompson, R., 2011. Accumulation of microplastic on shorelines worldwide: sources and sinks. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45 (21), 9175–9179.
- Chen, C.L., 2015. Regulation and management of marine litter. Marine Anthropogenic Litter. Springer International Publishing, pp. 395–428.
- Cole, M., Lindeque, P., Halsband, C., Galloway, T.S., 2011. Microplastics as contaminants in the marine environment: a review. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 62, 2588–2597.
- Cole, M., Lindeque, P., Fileman, E., Halsband, C., Goodhead, R., Moger, J., Galloway, T.S., 2013. Microplastic ingestion by zooplankton. Environ. Sci. Technol. 47, 6646–6655.
- Cole, M., Lindeque, P., Fileman, E., Halsband, C., Galloway, T.S., 2015. The impact of polystyrene microplastics on feeding, function and fecundity in the marine copepod *Calanus helgolandicus*. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49, 1130–1137.
- Collignon, A., Hecq, J.H., Glagani, F., Voisin, P., Collard, F., Goffart, A., 2012. Neustonic microplastic and zooplankton in the north western Mediterranean Sea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 64 (4), 861–864.
- Convey, P., Barnes, D., Morton, A., 2002. Debris accumulation on oceanic island shores of the Scotia Arc, Antarctica. Polar Biol. 25 (8), 612–617.
- Cózar, A., Echevarría, F., González-Gordillo, J.I., Irigoien, X., Úbeda, B., Hernández-León, S., Palma, Á.T., Navarro, S., García-de-Lomas, J., Ruiz, A., Fernández-de-Puelles, M.L., 2014. Plastic debris in the open ocean. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 111 (28), 10239–10244.

- De Broyer, C., Koubbi, P., Griffiths, H.J., Raymond, B., d'Acoz, C.D.U., Van de Putte, A., Danis, B., David, B., Grant, S., Gutt, J., Held, C., 2014. Biogeographic Atlas of the Southern Ocean.
- Derraik, J.G.B., 2002. The pollution of the marine environment by plastic debris: a review. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 44 (9), 842–852.
- Desforges, J.P.W., Galbraith, M., Dangerfield, N., Ross, P.S., 2014. Widespread distribution of microplastics in subsurface seawater in the NE Pacific Ocean. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 79 (1), 94–99.
- Desforges, J.P.W., Galbraith, M., Ross, P.S., 2015. Ingestion of microplastics by zooplankton in the Northeast Pacific Ocean. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 69 (3), 320–330.
- do Sul, J.A.I., Costa, M.F., 2014. The present and future of microplastic pollution in the marine environment. Environ. Pollut. 185, 352–364.
- do Sul, J.A.I., Barnes, D.K.A., Costa, M.F., Convey, P., Costa, E.S., Campos, L.S., 2011. Plastics in the Antarctic environment: are we looking only at the tip of the iceberg? Oecologia Australis 15, 150–170.
- Eriksen, M., Maximenko, N., Thiel, M., Cummins, A., Lattin, G., Wilson, S., Hafner, J., Zellers, A., Rifman, S., 2013. Plastic pollution in the South Pacific subtropical gyre. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 68 (1), 71–76.
- Eriksen, M., Lebreton, L.C., Carson, H.S., Thiel, M., Moore, C.J., Borerro, J.C., Galgani, F., Ryan, P.G., Reisser, J., 2014. Plastic pollution in the world's oceans: more than 5 trillion plastic pieces weighing over 250,000 tons afloat at sea. PLoS One 9 (12), 111913.
- Eriksson, C., Burton, H., Fitch, S., Schulz, M., van den, Hoff, J., 2009. Daily accumulation rates of marine debris on sub-Antarctic island beaches. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 66 (1), 199–208.
- Essel, et al., 2015. Sources of Microplastics Relevant to Marine Protection in Germany. Texte 64/2015German Federal Environment Agency, Dessau-Rosslau, Germany.
- Fendall, L.S., Sewell, M.A., 2009. Contributing to marine pollution by washing your face: microplastics in facial cleansers. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58 (8), 1225–1228.
- Fischer, V., Elsner, N.O., Brenke, N., Schwabe, E., Brandt, A., 2015. Plastic pollution of the Kuril-Kamchatka Trench area (NW pacific). Deep-Sea Res. II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 111, 399–405.
- Fraser, C.I., Nikula, R., Waters, J.M., 2011. Oceanic rafting by a coastal community. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 278 (1706), 649–655.
- Fraser, C.I., Kay, G.M., du Plessis, M., and. Ryan, P.G., 2016. Breaking down the barrier: dispersal across the Antarctic Polar Front. Ecography 39, 001–003.
- Furness, B.L., 1983. Plastic particles in three procellariiform seabirds from the Benguela Current, South Africa. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 14 (8), 307–308.
- Gouin, T., Roche, N., Lohmann, R., Hodges, G., 2011. A thermodynamic approach for assessing the environmental exposure of chemicals absorbed to microplastic. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45 (4), 1466–1472.
- Gouin, T., Avalos, J., Brunning, I., Brzuska, K., de Graaf, J., Kaumanns, J., Konong, T., Meyberg, M., Rettinger, K., Schlatter, H., Thomas, J., 2015. Use of micro-plastic beads in cosmetic products in Europe and their estimated emissions to the North Sea environment. SOFW Journal 141, 40–46.
- Gregory, M.R., 2009. Environmental implications of plastic debris in marine settings entanglement, ingestion, smothering, hangers-on, hitch-hiking and alien invasions. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B 364 (1526), 2013–2025.
- Griffiths, H.J., 2010. Antarctic marine biodiversity–what do we know about the distribution of life in the Southern Ocean? PLoS One 5 (8), e11683.
- Gröndahl, F., Sidenmark, J., Thomsen, A., 2009. Survey of wastewater disposal practices at Antarctic research stations. Polar Res. 28 (2), 298–306.
- Gross, M., 2013. Plastic waste is all at sea. Curr. Biol. 23 (4), R135-R137.
- Gutt, J., 2001. On the direct impact of ice on marine benthic communities, a review. Polar Biol. 24, 553–564.
- Hammer, J., Kraak, M.H., Parsons, J.R., 2012. Plastics in the marine environment: the dark side of a modern gift. Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology. Springer New York, pp. 1–44.
- Huin, N., Croxall, J.P., 1996. Fishing gear, oil and marine debris associated with seabirds at Bird Island, South Georgia, during 1993/1994. Mar. Ornithol. 24, 19–22.
- Isobe, A., Uchiyama-Matsumoto, K., Uchida, K., Tokai, T., 2016. Microplastics in the Southern Ocean. Mar. Pollut. Bull. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.09.037.
- Kaposi, K.L., Mos, B., Kelaher, B.P., Dworjanyn, S.A., 2014. Ingestion of microplastic has limited impact on a marine larva. Environ. Sci. Technol. 48 (3), 1638–1645.
- Lassen, et al., 2015. Microplastics occurrence, effects and sources of releases to the environment in Denmark. Environmental project no. 1793. Environment Protection Agency. Ministry of Environment and Food of Denmark, Copenhagen, Denmark.
- Lee, K.-W., Shim, W.J., Kwon, O.Y., Kang, J.-H., 2013. Size-dependent effects of micro polystyrene particles in the marine copepod *Tigriopus japonicus*. Environ. Sci. Technol. 4, 11278–11283.
- Leichter, J.J., 2011. Investigating the accumulation of plastic debris in the North Pacific Gyre. Interdisciplinary Studies on Environmental Chemistry-marine Environmental Modeling & Analysis. 5, pp. 251–259.
- Li, W.C., Tse, H.F., Fok, L., 2016. Plastic waste in the marine environment: a review of sources, occurrence and effects. Sci. Total Environ. 566, 333–349.
- Liebezeit, G., Dubaish, F., 2012. Microplastics in beaches of the East Frisian islands Spiekeroog and Kachelotplate. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 89 (1), 213–217.
- Lusher, A., 2015. Microplastics in the marine environment: distribution, interactions and effects. In: Bergmann, M., Gutlow, L., Klages, M. (Eds.), Marine Anthropogenic Litter. Springer International Publishing, pp. 245–307.
 Lusher, A.L., McHugh, M., Thompson, R.C., 2013. Occurrence of microplastics in the gastro-
- Lusher, A.L., McHugh, M., Thompson, R.C., 2013. Occurrence of microplastics in the gastrointestinal tract of pelagic and demersal fish from the English Channel. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 67, 94–99.
- Lusher, A.L., Tirelli, V., O'Connor, I., Officer, R., 2015a. Microplastics in Arctic polar waters: the first reported values of particles in surface and sub-surface samples. Sci. Rep. 5, 14947.

- Lusher, A.L., Hernandez-Milian, G., O'Brien, J., Berrow, S.D., O'Connor, I., Officer, R., 2015b. Microplastic and macroplastic ingestion by a deep diving, oceanic cetacean: the True's beaked whale *Mesoplodon mirus*. Environ. Pollut. 199, 185–191.
- Magnusson, et al., 2016. Swedish Sources and Pathways for Microplastics to the Marine Environment. A Review of Existing Data. IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute, Stockholm, Sweden.
- Mehlhart, G., Blepp, M., 2012. Study on land-sourced litter (LSL) in the marine environment. Review of sources and literature, the Context of the Initiative of the Declaration of the Global Plastics Associations for Solutions on Marine Litter Darmstadt/Freiburg.
- Napper, Thompson, 2016. Release of synthetic microplastic plastic fibres from domestic washing machines: effects of fabric type and washing conditions. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 112, 39–45.
- Obbard, R.W., Sadri, S., Wong, Y.Q., Khitun, A.A., Baker, I., Thompson, R.C., 2014. Global warming releases microplastic legacy frozen in Arctic Sea ice. Earth's Future 2 (6), 315–320.
- Romeo, T., Pietro, B., Pedá, C., Consoli, P., Andaloro, F., Fossi, M.C., 2015. First evidence of presence of plastic debris in stomach of large pelagic fish in the Mediterranean Sea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 95, 358–361.
- Ryan, P.G., 2014. Litter survey detects the South Atlantic 'garbage patch'. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 79 (1), 220–224.
- Ryan, P.G., de Bruyn, P.N.J., Bester, M.N., 2016. Regional differences in plastic ingestion among Southern Ocean fur seals and albatrosses. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 104, 207–210.
- Smale, D.A., Brown, K.M., Barnes, D.K.A., Fraser, K.P.P., Clarke, A., 2008. Ice scour disturbance in Antarctic shallow waters. Science 321, 371.
- Sundt, et al., 2014. Sources of Microplastic-pollution to the Marine Environment. Report no M-321/2015Mepex Consult, Asker, Norway.
- Sutherland, W.J., Bardsley, S., Bennun, L., Clout, M., Côté, I.M., Depledge, M.H., Dicks, L.V., Dobson, A.P., Fellman, L., Fleishman, E., Gibbons, D.W., 2011. Horizon scan of global conservation issues for 2011. Trends Ecol. Evol. 26 (1), 10–16.
- Taylor, M.L., Gwinnett, C., Robinson, L.F., Woodall, L.C., 2016. Plastic microfibre ingestion by deep-sea organisms. Scientific Reports 6, 33997.
- Tekman, et al., 2017. Marine litter on deep Arctic sea floor continues to increase and spreads to the North at the HAUSGARTEN observatory. Deep-Sea Res Part I 120, 88–99.
- Teuten, E.L., Saquing, J.M., Knappe, D.R.U., Barlaz, M.A., Jonsson, S., Bjorn, A., Rowland, S.J., Thompson, R.C., Galloway, T.S., Yamashita, R., Ochi, D., Watanuki, Y., Moore, C., Viet, P.H., Tana, T.S., Prudente, M., Boonyatumanond, R., Zakaria, M.P., Akkhavong, K., Ogata, Y., Hirai, H., Iwasa, S., Mizukawa, K., Hagino, Y., Imamura, A., Saha, M., Takada, H., 2009. Transport and release of chemicals from plastics to the environment and to wildlife, Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B 364, 2027–2045.
- Thompson, R.C., 2015. Microplastics in the marine environment: sources, consequences and solutions. In: Bergmann, M., Gutlow, L., Klages, M. (Eds.), Marine Anthropogenic Litter. Springer International Publishing, pp. 185–200.
- Thompson, A.F., Heywood, K.J., Thorpe, S.E., Renner, A.H.H., Trasvina, A., 2009. Surface circulation at the tip of the Antarctic Peninsula from drifters. J. Phys. Oceanogr. 39, 3–26.

- Thorpe, S.E., Murphy, E.J., Watkins, J.L., 2007. Circumpolar connections between Antarctic krill (*Euphausia superba* Dana) populations: investigating the roles of ocean and sea ice transport. Deep Sea Research I 54:792–810. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr.2007. 01.008.
- Tin, T., Fleming, Z.L., Hughes, K.A., Ainley, D.G., Convey, P., Moreno, C.A., Pfeiffer, S., Scott, J., Snape, I., 2009. Impacts of local human activities on the Antarctic environment. Antarct. Sci. 21, 3–33.
- Tosetto, L., Brown, C., Williamson, J.E., 2016. Microplastics on beaches: ingestion and behavioural consequences for beachhoppers. Mar. Biol. 163 (10), 199.
- UNEP, 2005. Marine Litter, an Analytical Overview. United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi.
- UNEP, 2009. Abandoned, Lost or Otherwise Discarded Fishing Gear. United Nations Environment Programme, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- UNEP, 2015. Plastic in Cosmetics. United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi.
- Van Cauwenberghe, L., Vanreusel, A., Mees, J., Janssen, C.R., 2013. Microplastic pollution in deep-sea sediments. Environ. Pollut. 182, 495–499.
- Van Cauwenberghe, L., Claessens, M., Vandegehuchte, M.B., Janssen, C.R., 2015. Microplastics are taken up by mussels (*Mytilus edulis*) and lugworms (*Arenicola marina*) living in natural habitats. Environ. Pollut. 199, 10–17.
- Van Franeker, J.A., Bell, P.J., 1988. Plastic ingestion by petrels breeding in Antarctica. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 19, 672–674.
- Walker, T.R., Reid, K., Arnould, J.P.Y., Croxall, J.P., 1997. Marine debris surveys at Bird Island, South Georgia 1990–1995. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 34, 61–65.
- Waller, C.L., Barnes, D.K., Convey, P., 2006. Ecological contrasts across an Antarctic landsea interface. Austral Ecol. 31 (5), 656–666.
- Waluda, C.M., Staniland, I.J., 2013. Entanglement of Antarctic fur seals at Bird Island, South Georgia. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 74 (1), 244–252.
- Ward, J.E., Kach, D.J., 2009. Marine aggregates facilitate ingestion of nanoparticles by suspension-feeding bivalves. Mar. Environ. Res. 68 (3), 137–142.
- Woodall, L.C., Sanchez-Vidal, A., Canals, M., Paterson, G.L., Coppock, R., Sleight, V., Calafat, A., Rogers, A.D., Narayanaswamy, B.E., Thompson, R.C., 2014. The deep sea is a major sink for microplastic debris. Royal Society Open Science 1 (4), 140317.
- Wright, S.L., Rowe, D., Thompson, R.C., Galloway, T.S., 2013a. Microplastic ingestion decreases energy reserves in marine worms. Curr. Biol. 23 (23), R1031–R1033.
- Wright, S.L., Thompson, R.C., Galloway, T.S., 2013b. The physical impacts of microplastics on marine organisms: a review. Environ. Pollut. 178, 483–492.
- Young, E., Thorpe, S., Banglawala, N., Murphy, E., 2014. Variability in transport pathways on and around the South Georgia shelf, Southern Ocean: implications for recruitment and retention. Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans 119:241–252. http://dx.doi. org/10.1002/2013JC009348.
- Ziajahromi, et al., 2016. Wastewater treatment plant effluent as a source of microplastics: review of the fate, chemical interactions and potential risks to aquatic organisms. Water Sci. Technol. 74, 2253–2269.